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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
DIRECTORS' REPORT 
 
The Directors of Berjaya Media Berhad hereby submit their report and the audited financial statements of the 
Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 30 April 2022. 
 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The Company is principally involved in investment holding. 
 
The information on the name, place of incorporation, principal activities and percentage of issued share capital 
held by the Company in each subsidiary company is as disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements. 
 
 
RESULTS 
 
The results of operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year are as follows: 
 

Group Company
RM'000 RM'000

(Loss)/Profit for the financial year,

attributable to owners of the Company (2,786)            57                  

 
There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as 
disclosed in the financial statements. 
 
In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial 
year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature. 
 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial year. The 
Directors do not recommend any final dividend payment in respect of the current financial year. 
 
 
ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES 
 
The Company has not issued any new shares or debentures during the financial year. 
 
 
SHARE OPTIONS  
 
No options or warrants have been granted by the Company to any parties during the financial year to take up 
unissued shares of the Company. 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The Directors of the Company in office during the financial year and during the period from the end of the 
financial year to the date of this report are: 
 
Dato' Sri Robin Tan Yeong Ching  
Datuk Seri Azman Bin Ujang 
Datuk Robert Yong Kuen Loke (retired on 28 October 2021) 
 
The names of directors of subsidiary companies are set out in the respective subsidiary company’s statutory 
accounts and the said information is deemed incorporated herein by such reference and made a part hereof. 
 
 
DIRECTORS' BENEFITS 
 
Since the end of the previous financial year, none of the Directors of the Company has received or become 
entitled to receive any benefit (other than the benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received 
or due and receivable by Directors as disclosed in the financial statements or the fixed salary of full-time 
employees of the related companies) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with 
the Director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial 
interest except for any benefits that may be deemed to have arisen by virtue of the transactions between the 
Company and certain companies in which certain Directors and/or shareholders of the Company are also 
Directors and/or shareholders as disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements.  
 
During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangement subsisted to which the Company was a party 
whereby Directors of the Company might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures 
of, the Company or any other body corporate. 
 
 
DIRECTORS' INTERESTS 
 
The shareholdings in the Company and in the related companies of those who were Directors at the end of the 
financial year, as recorded in the Register of Directors' Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 59 of 
the Companies Act 2016, are as follows: 

At 1.5.21 Acquired Disposed At 30.4.22

Number of ordinary shares

The Company  

Dato' Sri Robin Tan Yeong Ching 18,000                 -                           -                           18,000                 

17,071,200          # -                           -                           17,071,200          

100                      * -                           -                           100                       
 
Notes: 
# Denotes indirect interest pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016. 
* Denotes indirect interest pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Companies Act 2016. 
 
Other than as disclosed above, the other Director in office at the end of the financial year did not have any 
interest in shares of the Company and in shares of its related corporations during the financial year. 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
 
No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial year, for any 
person who is or has been the director or officer of the Company. 
 
OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION 
 
Before the statements of profit or loss, statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position 
of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps: 
 
(a) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of 

allowance for doubtful debts, and satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts to be written 
off and that adequate allowance for doubtful debts had been made; and 

 
(b) to ensure that any current asset which was unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business 

including the value of current assets as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the 
Company had been written down to an amount which the current assets might be expected so to realise. 

 
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances: 
 
(a) which would require the write off of any bad debts or render the amount of allowance for doubtful debts in 

the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent, or 
 
(b) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of 

the Company misleading; or 
 
(c) which have arisen and render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the 

Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate; or 
 
(d) not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial statements which would render any amount stated in 

the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading. 
 
As at the date of this report, there does not exist: 
 
(a) any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the 

financial year which secures the liability of any other person; or 
 
(b) any contingent liability of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial 

year. 
 
Subject to the continued financial support from a major shareholder, in the opinion of the Directors: 
 
(a) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the 

period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group 
and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due; and 

 
(b) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end 

of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the 
operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made. 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022 
 

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Revenue 5 5,442           8,277           -                  11               
Cost of sales (5,932)         (7,155)         -                  -                  

Gross (loss)/profit (490)            1,122           -                  11               

Other income 9b 4,788           637             149             242             
Selling and distribution expenses (178)            (197)            -                  -                  
Administrative expenses (6,864)         (9,616)         (92)              (158)            
Other expenses 9c (3)                (525)            -                  (7,289)         

(2,747)         (8,579)         57               (7,194)         

Finance costs 8 (3)                (97)              -                  -                  

(Loss)/Profit before tax 9 (2,750)         (8,676)         57               (7,194)         

Income tax expense 10 (36)              (37)              -                  -                  

(Loss)/Profit for the financial year,
   attributable to owners
   of the Company (2,786)         (8,713)         57               (7,194)         

(Loss)/Profit per share (Sen)
   attributable to owners
   of the parent
   - Basic, for the year 11 (3.71)

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022 
 

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

(Loss)/Profit for the financial year (2,786)         (8,713)         57               (7,194)         

Other comprehensive income:

Item that will not be reclassified 
   subsequently to profit or loss

- Changes in fair value of
quoted investments at fair value
through other comprehensive 
income ("FVTOCI") (261)            14               -                  -                  

(261)            14               -                  -                  

Total comprehensive income
   attributable to

owners of the Company (3,047)         (8,699)         57               (7,194)         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 APRIL 2022 
 

Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Restated

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 1,020           1,299           -                  -                  
Right-of-use asset 12 35               121             -                  -                  
Publishing rights 13 -                  -                  -                  -                  
Investment in 

subsidiary companies 14 -                  -                  -                  -                  
Other investments 15 767             1,028           -                  -                  

1,822           2,448           -                  -                  

Current assets
Inventories 17 1,036           682             -                  -                  
Trade and other receivables 18 1,848           1,702           2                 2                 
Amount owing by 

subsidiary companies 19 -                  -                  -                  -                  
Cash and bank balances 24 1,763           2,442           12               13               

4,647           4,826           14               15               

TOTAL ASSETS 6,469           7,274           14               15               

Group 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 APRIL 2022 (CONTINUED) 
 

Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Restated

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to 
     equity holders of the Company
Share capital 21 191,538       191,538       191,538       191,538       
Reserves 22 (219,345)     (216,298)     (208,888)     (208,945)     

Shareholders' deficit (27,807)       (24,760)       (17,350)       (17,407)       

Non-current liabilities
Lease liability 12 -                  36               -                  -                  
Other payable 23 125             182             -                  -                  

125             218             -                  -                  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 33,970         31,626         3,761           3,922           
Lease liability 12 36               85               -                  -                  
Contract liability 138             100             -                  -                  
Taxation 7                 5                 -                  -                  
Amount owing to 

subsidiary companies 19 -                  -                  13,603         13,500         

34,151         31,816         17,364         17,422         

Total liabilities 34,276         32,034         17,364         17,422         

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 6,469           7,274           14               15               

Group 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022 
 

Ordinary FVTOCI Accumulated Shareholders'

shares reserve losses deficit

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

GROUP

At 1 May 2020 191,538       (30,611)       (176,988)     (16,061)       

Total comprehensive income -                  14               (8,713)         (8,699)         

Arising from disposal of FVTOCI investment -                  29,210         (29,210)       -                  

At 30 April 2021 191,538       (1,387)         (214,911)     (24,760)       

At 1 May 2021 191,538       (1,387)         (214,911)     (24,760)       

Total comprehensive income -                  (261)            (2,786)         (3,047)         

At 30 April 2022 191,538       (1,648)         (217,697)     (27,807)       

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company

Non-distributable

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022 
 

Ordinary FVTOCI Accumulated Shareholders'

shares reserve losses deficit

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

COMPANY

At 1 May 2020 191,538       (671)            (201,080)     (10,213)       

Total comprehensive income -                  -                  (7,194)         (7,194)         

Arising from disposal of FVTOCI investment -                  671             (671)            -                  

At 30 April 2021 191,538       -                  (208,945)     (17,407)       

At 1 May 2021 191,538       -                  (208,945)     (17,407)       

Total comprehensive income -                  -                  57               57               

At 30 April 2022 191,538       -                  (208,888)     (17,350)       

Non-distributable

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers 5,682           9,052           -                  -                  
Payments to suppliers (3,492)         (5,089)         -                  -                  
Payments for operating expenses (10,596)       (13,675)       (104)            (450)            
Payments of taxes (34)              (41)              -                  -                  

Net cash flow used in
   operating activities (8,440)         (9,753)         (104)            (450)            

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 157             155             -                  -                  
Purchase of property,
   plant and equipment (8)                (80)              -                  -                  
Proceeds from disposal 
  of other investments -                  7,996           -                  211             
Net change in
   inter-company indebtedness -                  -                  103             (3,331)         

Net cash flow generated from/
   (used in) investing activities 149             8,071           103             (3,120)         

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advances from a major shareholder [Note (i)] 7,700           8,211           -                  3,521           
Repayment of short term borrowing [Note (i)] -                  (1,412)         -                  -                  
Repayment to a major shareholder [Note (i)] -                  (2,593)         -                  -                  
Payment of principal portion
  of lease liability [Note (ii)] (85)              (49)              -                  -                  
Finance costs paid (3)                (97)              -                  -                  

Net cash flow generated from
   financing activities 7,612           4,060           -                  3,521           

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS (679)            2,378           (1)                (49)              

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
   BROUGHT FORWARD 2,442           64               13               62               

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
   CARRIED FORWARD 1,763           2,442           12               13               

Group Company
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022 (CONTINUED) 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The closing cash and cash equivalents
   comprise the following:

Cash and bank balances (Note 24) 1,763           2,442           12               13               

1,763           2,442           12               13               

Group Company

 
Notes: 
 
(i) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities: 

 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Borrowings 

At 1 May -                  1,412           
Repayment of bank borrowing -                  (1,412)         

At 30 April -                  -                  

Group

 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Advances from a major shareholder

At 1 May 19,213         13,595         3,721           200             
Advances received 7,700           8,211           -                  3,521           
Repayment -                  (2,593)         -                  -                  

At 30 April 26,913         19,213         3,721           3,721           

Group Company

 
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, 
classified in the Group's and the Company's statements of cash flows as cash flows from financing 
activities. 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2022 (CONTINUED) 
 
(ii) The total cash outflows for leases were as follows: 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Total cash outflows for leases

- payment for principal portion of lease liability 85               49               
- interest paid on lease liability 3                 3                 
- payment of expenses relating to short term lease 411             471             
- payment of expenses relating to lease of low value assets 34               41               

533             564             

Group

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 30 APRIL 2022 
 
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 

The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. 
 

The Company is principally involved in investment holding. 
 

The information on the name, place of incorporation, principal activities and percentage of issued share 
capital held by the Company in each subsidiary company is as disclosed in Note 14. 

 
The Company's registered office is located at Lot 13-01A, Level 13 (East Wing), Berjaya Times Square, 
No.1, Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur. 

 
The Company's principal place of business is located at Level 12, Berjaya Times Square, No.1, Jalan 
Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur. 

 
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company were authorised by the Board of Directors for 
the issuance in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 23 September 2022. 

 
 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards ("MFRSs"), International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. 

 
During the financial year ended 30 April 2022, the Group incurred a net loss of RM2,786,000. As at 30 
April 2022, the Group and the Company reported shareholders’ deficit of RM27,807,000 and 
RM17,350,000 respectively, and the Group’s and the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current 
assets by RM29,504,000 and RM17,350,000 respectively as a result of losses incurred during the current 
and prior financial years. The current liabilities of the Group and of the Company as at 30 April 2022 
arose mainly from trade and other payables of RM33,970,000 and RM3,761,000 respectively. 
 
However, the financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a going concern basis. This going 
concern basis is applied on the assumptions that the Group will receive financial support from a major 
shareholder to meet its obligations as and when they fall due. In this regard, the Group has received a 
letter from a major shareholder confirming that financial support will be provided to enable the Group to 
meet its obligations as and when they fall due for the next 12 months from end of the financial year end. 

 
The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("RM") and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand Ringgit Malaysia ("RM'000") except when otherwise indicated. 

 



  RREEGGIISSTTRRAATTIIOONN  NNOO::  119999440011000044992222  ((229900660011--TT))..   

 

20 

BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

2.1 Changes in accounting policies 
 

On 1 May 2021, the Group and the Company adopted the following Amendments to MFRSs: 
 

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020: 
 

• Amendments to MFRS 16: COVID-19 – Related Rent Concessions 
 

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021: 
 

• Amendments to MFRS 9, MFRS 139, MFRS 7, MFRS 4 and MFRS 16: Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 
 

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021: 
 

• Amendments to MFRS 16: COVID-19 – Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 
2021 

 
Adoption of the above Amendments to MFRSs did not have any material effect on the financial 
performance or position of the Group and of the Company. 

 
2.2 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 

 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new MFRSs, 
Amendments to MFRSs and Annual Improvements to MFRSs were issued but not yet effective 
and have not been applied by the Group and by the Company: 
 
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022: 

 

• Amendments to MFRS 3: Business Combinations – Reference to Conceptual Framework 

• Amendments to MFRS 116: Property, Plant & Equipment – Proceeds before Intended 
Use 

• Amendments to MFRS 137: Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract 

• Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 – Amendments to MFRS 1: 
First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 

• Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 – Amendments to MFRS 9: 
Financial Instruments 

• Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 – Illustrative Examples 
accompanying MFRS 16 Leases – Lease Incentives 

• Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 – Amendments to MFRS 141: 
Agriculture 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

2.2 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (Continued) 
 

Effective immediately for financial periods beginning on or before 1 January 2023: 
 

• Amendments to MFRS 4: Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying MFRS 9 
 

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023: 
 

• MFRS 17: Insurance Contracts 

• Amendments to MFRS 17: Insurance Contracts 

• Amendments to MFRS 101: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

• Amendments to MFRS 101: Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

• Amendments to MFRS 108: Definition of Accounting Estimates 

• Amendments to MFRS 112: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 
Single Transaction 

 
Effective date yet to be determined: 

 

• Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128: Sales or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Deferred) 

 
The new MFRSs, Amendments to MFRSs and Annual Improvements to MFRSs above are 
expected to have no significant impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company upon their initial application. 
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BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

(a) Basis of Accounting 
 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the 
historical cost basis unless otherwise indicated in the accounting policies stated below. Historical 
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the 
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or 
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset 
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based 
payment transactions that are within the scope of MFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within 
the scope of MFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not 
fair value, such as net realisable value in MFRS 102 or value in use in MFRS 136. 

 
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable 
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are 
described as follows: 

 
(a) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date; 
 

(b) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

 
(c) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 
The principal accounting policies are set out below: 

 
(b) Basis of Consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
all its subsidiary companies, which are prepared up to the end of the same financial year.  

 
Subsidiary companies are consolidated when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary 
company and ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary company. 

 
The Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has all the following: 

 
(i) Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the 

relevant activities of the investee); 
 

(ii)  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and 
 

(iii)  The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 
 

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. 

 
Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiary companies that do not result in the 
Group losing control over the subsidiary companies are accounted for as equity transactions. The 
carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect 
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary companies. The resulting difference is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owner of the Company. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Basis of Consolidation (Continued) 
 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary company, a gain or loss calculated as the 
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair 
value of any retained interest; and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of 
the subsidiary company and any non-controlling interest, is recognised in profit or loss. The 
subsidiary company's cumulative gain or loss which has been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss or where 
applicable, transferred directly to retained profits. The fair value of any investment retained in the 
former subsidiary company at the date control is lost is regarded as the cost on initial recognition 
of the investment. 

 
Business Combinations 

 
Acquisitions of subsidiary companies are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of 
an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at 
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. The 
Group elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to measure the non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's 
identifiable net assets. Transaction costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative 
expenses. 

 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at 
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration which 
is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in profit or loss or as a change to other 
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not be 
remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 

 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date 
through profit or loss. 

 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests over the net identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than fair value of the net 
assets of the subsidiary company acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
(c) Revenue 

 
MFRS 15 establishes a five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with 
customers. 

 
The core principle of MFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue which depicts the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Revenue (Continued) 
 

The Group and the Company recognise revenue from contracts with customers based on the 
five-step model as set out below: 

 
(i) Identify contract(s) with a customer. A contract is defined as an agreement between two 

or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria 
that must be met. 

 
(ii) Identify performance obligations in the contract. A performance obligation is a promise in 

a contract with a customer to transfer goods or services to the customer. 
 

(iii) Determine the transaction price. The transaction price is the amount of consideration to 
which the Group or the Company expect(s) to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of 
third parties. 

 
(iv) Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. For a 

contract that has more than one performance obligation, the Group or the Company 
needs to allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation on a relative 
stand-alone selling price basis. 

 
(v) Recognise revenue when the Group or the Company satisfies a performance obligation 

or as the Group or the Company is satisfying a performance obligation by transferring a 
promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or 
as) the customer obtains control of that asset. 

 
Revenue is recognised at the point in time at which the performance obligation is 
satisfied. However, where the performance obligation is satisfied over time, the Group or 
the Company shall recognise revenue over time if the Group’s or the Company’s 
performance: 

 
(1) Provides benefits that the customer simultaneously receives and consumes as 

the Group or the Company performs; or 
 

(2) Creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created 
or enhanced; or 

 
(3) Does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group or the Company 

and the Group or the Company has an enforceable right to payment for 
performance completed to-date. 

 
The recognition of the Group’s revenue are further described below: 

 
Advertising income 

 
For one-off sales, revenue from services rendered is recognised at a point in time as and when 
the advertisements are published or displayed. Revenue is recognised at net of service taxes 
less discount. 

 
For package sales, revenue is recognised over time as the package sales contract comprises 
multiple deliverables which represent a series of distinct services that are substantially the same. 
Revenue is recognised upon the completion of the performance obligations embodied in the 
package sales contract based on an amount which is commensurate with the value of the 
completed performance obligation. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Contract Assets and Liabilities 
 

A contract asset is the right of the Group or the Company to consideration in exchange for goods 
or services that it has transferred to the customer when that right is conditional upon future 
performance but not through the passage of time. If the Group or the Company has performed its 
obligation by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays 
consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised and presented net of any 
amounts that has been recognised as receivables. Contract asset is the excess of cumulative 
revenue earned or recognised in profit or loss over the billings to date to the customer. Contract 
assets are subject to impairment assessment in accordance of MFRS 9 Financial Instruments. 

 
A contract liability is the obligation of the Group or the Company to transfer goods and services to 
a customer for which it has received consideration or an amount of consideration is due from the 
customer. If a customer pays consideration, such as advance payment and down payments, or 
the Group or the Company has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional before 
it transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment 
is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as 
revenue when the Group or the Company performs its obligation under the contract. Contract 
liability is the excess of the billings to date to the customer over the cumulative revenue earned or 
recognised in profit or loss. 

 
(e) Contingencies 

 
A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and 
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future 
event(s) not wholly within the control of the Group or of the Company. 

 
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the 
Group and of the Company except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination of 
which the fair value can be reliably measured. 

 
(f) Income Tax 

 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year, calculated using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax for current and 
prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or recoverable). 

 
Deferred tax is provided for, using the "liability" method, on temporary differences at the reporting 
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, 
unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses 
and unused tax credits can be utilised. Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is 
not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profits. 

 
The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(f) Income Tax (Continued) 
 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax is recognised in the statements of profit or loss, 
except when it arises from a transaction which is recognised directly in equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also charged or credited directly in equity, or when it arises from a business 
combination that is an acquisition, in which case the deferred tax is included in the resulting 
goodwill. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on 
a net basis. 

 
(g) Borrowing Costs 

 
Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing 
costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in 
progress and the expenditure and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised 
until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale. 

 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period they are incurred. 
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group and the Company incurred in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. 

 
(h) Foreign Currency Conversion 

 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 

 
The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ("the 
functional currency"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit 
Malaysia, which is also the Company's functional currency. 

 
(ii) Foreign currency transactions 

 
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into Ringgit Malaysia at the 
approximate exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates 
prevailing at reporting date. All foreign exchange gains and losses are taken up in the 
statements of profit or loss. 

 
(i) Employee Benefits 

 
Wages, salaries, paid annual leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year 
in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group and of the Company.  

 
The Group and the Company make statutory contributions to an approved provident fund and 
contributions are charged to the statements of profit or loss. Once the contributions have been 
paid, the Group and the Company have no further payment obligations. The approved provident 
fund is a defined contribution plan. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(j) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
 

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, publishing rights and investment in 
subsidiary companies are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is 
estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its 
cash-generating unit ("CGU") exceeds its recoverable amount. 

 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In assessing 
value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in the statements of profit or loss. 

 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statements of profit or loss. 

 
(k) Property, Plant and Equipment  

 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment losses. 

 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed on the straight-line method at the 
following annual rates based on the estimated useful lives of the various assets: 

 
 Plant and machinery 10% - 20% 

 Office, factory equipment and air-conditioning system 10% - 20% 

 Furniture, fittings and fixtures 10% - 20% 

 Computers 10% - 20% 

 Motor vehicles 10% - 20% 

 Renovations 10% - 20% 

 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year 
end, with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for prospectively. 

 
Gain or loss arising from the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the 
estimated net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and is recognised in the 
statements of profit or loss.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(l) Publishing Rights 
 

Publishing rights are stated at cost less impairment losses. 
 

For the purpose of impairment testing, publishing rights are allocated to the Group's CGU 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. CGU to which the publishing rights 
have been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an 
indication that the unit may be impaired. 

 
If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment 
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any publishing rights allocated to the unit 
and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis of the carrying amount of each asset 
in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for publishing rights is not reversed in the subsequent 
period. 

 
On disposal of the CGU, the attributable amount of publishing rights is included in the 
determination of the gain or loss on disposal. 

 
(m) Investment in Subsidiary Companies 

 
Investment in subsidiary companies, which is eliminated on consolidation, is stated at cost in the 
Company's financial statements less impairment losses. 

 
(n) Inventories 

 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the 
weighted average method. The cost of inventories comprises the original purchase price plus 
cost incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. The cost of 
production materials comprises the cost of raw materials, direct labour and a proportion of 
production overheads. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less selling and distribution costs and all other estimated costs to completion. 

 
(o) Provisions  

 
Provisions are made when the Group and the Company have a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.  

 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of provision is the present 
value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(p) Statements of Cash Flows 
 

The Group and the Company adopt the direct method in the preparation of the statements of 
cash flows. 

 
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less 
from the date of acquisition and are readily convertible to cash with insignificant risk of change in 
value, against which the bank overdrafts, if any, are deducted. 

 
(q) Equity Instruments 

 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in 
the period in which they are approved for payment. 

 
The transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net 
of tax. Equity transaction costs comprise only those incremental external costs directly 
attributable to the equity transaction which would otherwise have been avoided. 

 
(r) Financial Assets 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 

 
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the entity becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments. 

 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised 
on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s 
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s and the Company’s business model for 
managing them. Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through 
profit or loss. 

 
Classification of financial assets are determined on initial recognition and are not reclassified 
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group or the Company changes its business 
model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on 
the first day of the first reporting period following the change of the business model. Such 
changes are expected to be very infrequent. 

 
With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or 
for which the Group and the Company have applied the practical expedient, the Group and the 
Company initially measure a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. 

 
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or if the period between 
performance and payment is 1 year or less under practical expedient of MFRS 15, are measured 
at the transaction price determined under MFRS 15. 
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(r) Financial Assets (Continued) 
 

Subsequent measurement 
 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on its classification. The classification of 
financial assets are described below: 

 
(i) Amortised cost 

 
This category comprises financial assets that are held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give 
rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments of principal and interest 
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.  

 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at 
initial recognition minus principal repayments plus cumulative amortisation using the 
effective interest method and reduced by any impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or 
impaired. 

 
(ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income 

 
Debt instruments 

 
This category comprises investments in debt instrument, which are held within a 
business model whose objective is collecting contractual cash flows and selling the debt 
investments, and its contractual terms give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are 
SPPI on the principal amount outstanding. Interest income calculated using the effective 
interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment losses or reversals 
are recognised in profit or loss. Fair value changes are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.  

 
On derecognition of these financial assets, the fair value changes accumulated in other 
comprehensive income are recycled to profit or loss. 

 
Equity instruments 

 
This category comprises investments in equity instrument that are not held for trading, 
and where the Group and the Company irrevocably elect to account for subsequent 
changes in the investments’ fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is 
made on an investment-by-investment basis. Dividends are recognised as income in 
profit or loss unless the dividends clearly represent part recovery of the cost of 
investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 
On derecognition of these financial assets, fair value changes and other net gains and 
losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are not recycled to profit or loss. 
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(r) Financial Assets (Continued) 
 

Subsequent measurement (Continued) 
 

(iii) Fair value through profit or loss 
 

All financial assets not classified as amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income as described above are classified as fair value through profit or 
loss. This includes derivative financial assets (except for a derivative that is a designated 
and effective hedging instrument). On initial recognition, the Group or the Company may 
irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be 
classified as amortised cost or as fair value through other comprehensive income as fair 
value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising 
the gains and losses on them on different bases. 

 
Financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured 
at their fair values. Net gains or losses, including any interest or dividend income, are 
recognised in the profit or loss. 

 
All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss and equity 
investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, are subject to 
impairment assessment. 

 
Derecognition 

 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is primarily derecognised when: 

 
(i) The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

 
(ii) The Group or the Company has transferred its rights to receive the cash flows from the 

assets and has transferred substantially all risks and rewards related to the asset; or 
 

(iii) The Group or the Company has transferred its rights to receive the cash flows from the 
assets and has not retained control of the assets; or 

 
(iv) The Group or the Company has assumed an obligation to pay the cash flows from the 

asset in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement. 
 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 
a pass-through arrangement, but the Group is not able to derecognise the asset, then the Group 
has to continue recognising the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and 
to recognise an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are 
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 
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(s) Impairment of Financial Assets 
 

The Group and the Company recognise loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on 
financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt investments measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, contract assets and lease receivables. 

 
ECLs are the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract 
and all the cash flows that the Group and the Company expect to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from 
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are part of the contractual terms. 

 
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures where there have not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from 
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit 
exposures where there have been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a 
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 

 
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group and the Company apply the simplified 
approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group and the Company do not track changes in 
credit risk, but instead recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. 
The Group and the Company have established provision matrix that is based on its historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors and the economic environment. 

 
The Group and the Company recognise impairment loss in profit or loss for all financial 
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance 
account, except for investments in debt instruments that are measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, for which the loss allowance is recognised in profit or loss and 
accumulated in the fair value reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial 
asset in the statements of financial position. 

 
(t) Financial Liabilities 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 

 
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the entity becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments. 

 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at amortised cost or 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
The Group and the Company initially measure a financial liability at its fair value minus, in the 
case of a financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the issue of the financial liability. 
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(t) Financial Liabilities (continued) 
 

Subsequent measurement 
 

The Group and the Company measure the financial liabilities depending on their classification, as 
described below: 

 
(i) Amortised cost 

 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
which allocates interest expenses at a constant rate over the term of the financial 
liabilities.  The effective interest rate is calculated at initial recognition and is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows (including all fees and points paid that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability to the amortised cost of a 
financial liability. 

 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the amortised cost of a financial liability is the amount 
at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using 
the effective interest method. 

 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as 
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process. 

 
(ii) Fair value through profit or loss 

 
The fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are either 
held for trading or are designated as fair value through profit or loss to eliminate or 
significantly reduce a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 
arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on 
different bases. The changes in fair value of these financial liabilities are recognised in 
profit or loss. 

 
Derecognition 

 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability expires, or is discharged 
or cancelled. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such a 
replacement or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 
the statements of profit or loss. 

 
(u) Offsetting of Financial Instruments 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets 
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
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(v) Leases 
 

A lease, as defined in MFRS 16, is a contract or part of a contract that conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The 
Group assesses at inception of a contract whether it is a lease in accordance to MFRS 16. 

 
(i) Group as a lessee 

 
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except 
for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease 
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use 
the underlying assets. 

 
Right-of-use assets 

 
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease i.e., 
the date the underlying asset is available for use. Right-of-use assets are measured at 
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of 
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, estimated cost to 
dismantle/restore the underlying asset, and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease 
term and the estimated useful lives of the assets. In the case where the lease transfers 
the ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or if the 
cost of the right-of-use asset implies that the Group will exercise a purchase option, 
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the underlying asset. The 
depreciation period are as follows: 
 
Network equipment                    2 years 

 
‘Lease term’ refers to the non-cancellable period of a lease plus: (i) the period covered 
by an option to extend the lease if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise; and (ii) 
the period covered by an option to terminate if the Group is reasonably certain not to 
exercise. 

 
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment assessment. 

 
Lease liabilities 

 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured 
at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease 
payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease 
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and 
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also 
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the 
Group, and payments of penalties for termination (if the lease term reflects the Group 
exercising the option to terminate the lease). 

 
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as 
expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the 
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(v) Leases (continued) 
 

(i) Group as a lessee (continued) 
 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental 
borrowing rate (of the lessee) at the lease commencement date if the interest rate 
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the 
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for 
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured 
if there is a reassessment (e.g. change in the lease term) or lease modification (e.g. 
change in scope of lease). 

 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

 
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of 
asset (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of 
low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered 
to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets 
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
(w) Current and Non-Current Classification 

 
The Group and the Company present assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position 
based on current and non-current classification. 

 
An asset is classified as current when it is: 
(i) expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating 

cycle; 
(ii) held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
(iii) expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or 
(iv) cash and cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 

liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 
 

A liability is classified as current when: 
(i) it is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle; 
(ii) it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
(iii) it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or 
(iv) there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 

after the reporting period. 
 

All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities, respectively. 
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
 

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. 

 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.  

 
(a) Critical Judgements in Applying the Group's Accounting Policies 

 
The following is the judgement made by management in the process of applying the Group's 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. 

 
(i) Going concern 

 
During the financial year ended 30 April 2022, the Group incurred a net loss of 
RM2,786,000. As at 30 April 2022, the Group and the Company reported shareholders’ 
deficit of RM27,807,000 and RM17,350,000 respectively, and the Group’s and the 
Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RM29,504,000 and 
RM17,350,000 respectively as a result of losses incurred during the current and prior 
financial years. The current liabilities of the Group and of the Company as at 30 April 
2022 arose mainly from trade and other payables of RM33,970,000 and RM3,761,000 
respectively. 
 
However, the financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a going concern 
basis. This going concern basis is applied on the assumptions that the Group will receive 
financial support from a major shareholder to meet its obligations as and when they fall 
due. In this regard, the Group has received a letter from a major shareholder confirming 
that financial support will be provided to enable the Group to meet its obligations as and 
when they fall due for the next 12 months from end of the financial year. 

 
(ii) Impairment of financial assets  

 
The Group and the Company follow the guidance of MFRS 9 in determining when a 
financial asset is considered impaired. This determination requires significant judgement. 
The Group and the Company evaluate, among other factors, the duration and extent to 
which the fair value of a financial asset is less than its cost; and the financial health of 
and the near-term business outlook of the issuer of the instrument, including factors such 
as industry performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash 
flows. 



  RREEGGIISSTTRRAATTIIOONN  NNOO::  119999440011000044992222  ((229900660011--TT))..   

 

37 

BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

(CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 

Management believes that there are no key assumptions made concerning the future, and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year except for the following: 

 
Impairment of investment in subsidiary companies 

 
The Company carried out the impairment test based on the assessment of the fair value of the 
respective asset's or CGU's fair value less costs to sell or based on the estimation of the value-
in-use ("VIU") of the CGUs to which the respective subsidiary companies are allocated. 
Estimating the VIU requires the Company to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows 
from the CGU, growth rate, consideration of economic factors and future trends and also to 
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 

 
The carrying amount of the investments in subsidiary companies of the Company is disclosed in 
Note 14. 
 
 

5. REVENUE 
 

Company

2022 2021 2021 2020
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Revenue from contract with customers:
Advertising revenue 5,442           7,836           -                  -                  

Revenue from other source:
Gross dividends from quoted investments -                  441             -                  11               

5,442           8,277           -                  11               

Timing of advertising revenue recognition:
At a point in time 1,600           5,632           -                  -                  
Over time 3,842           2,204           -                  -                  

5,442           7,836           -                  -                  

Group

 
Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation 

 
The Group has applied the practical expedient not to disclose the information about its remaining 
performance obligation as the remaining performance obligation is expected to be fulfilled in the next 
twelve months. 
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group's business segments, which reflect the Group's 
internal reporting structure that are regularly reviewed by the Group's chief operating decision maker for 
the purposes of allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance. 

 
The Group is organised into the following operating divisions: 
- investment holding 
- publishing 
- others 

 

Investment

Group holding Publishing Others Eliminations Consolidated

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Revenue

Total revenue -                  5,442           -                  -                  5,442           

Results

Results from operations (54)              (2,950)         1                 103             (2,900)         

Other income -

   investing activities 153             -                  -                  -                  153             

Finance costs -                  (3)                -                  -                  (3)                

Loss before tax (2,750)         

Income tax expense (36)              

Loss for the financial year (2,786)         

Other Information

Capital expenditure -                  8                 -                  -                  8                 

Depreciation of 

-  property, plant and

   equipment -                  287             -                  -                  287             

- right-of-use asset -                  86               -                  -                  86               

Assets

Segment assets 1,050           5,419           -                  -                  6,469           

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 28,179         45,512         1                 (39,416)       34,276         
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

Investment

Group holding Publishing Others Eliminations Consolidated

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Revenue

Total revenue 441             7,836           -                  -                  8,277           

Results

Results from operations (12,044)       (9,032)         (4)                12,346         (8,734)         

Other income -

   investing activities 155             -                  -                  -                  155             

Finance costs -                  (97)              -                  -                  (97)              

Loss before tax (8,676)         
Income tax expense (37)              

Loss for the financial year (8,713)         

Other Information
Capital expenditure -                  250             -                  -                  250             

Depreciation of 
-  property, plant and
   equipment -                  448             -                  -                  448             
- right-of-use asset -                  49               -                  -                  49               

Assets
Segment assets 1,304           5,970           -                  -                  7,274           

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 28,235         43,110         2                 (39,313)       32,034         
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7. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 
 

Directors' remuneration, which is included as part of the administrative expenses in the statements of 
profit or loss, is as follows: 

 

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Executive:
- Emoluments -                  18               -                  -                  
- Contribution to 

   Employees Provident Fund -                  2                 -                  -                  

-                  20               -                  -                  
Non-executive:
- Fees 3                 6                 3                 6                 
- Other emoluments 2                 9                 2                 9                 

5                 35               5                 15               

 
8. FINANCE COSTS 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Interest expense on:
  - bank overdrafts -                  44               -                  -                  
  - banker acceptance -                  19               -                  -                  
Lease liability (Note 12) 3                 3                 -                  -                  
Other finance cost -                  31               -                  -                  

3                 97               -                  -                  

Group Company
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9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

(Loss)/Profit before tax
is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of newsprint consumed 958             1,292           -                  -                  
Staff cost (Note a) 7,236           9,376           -                  -                  
Depreciation of

- property, plant and equipment 287             448             -                  -                  
- right-of-use asset 86               49               -                  -                  

Short term lease payments 411             471             -                  -                  
Lease of low value assets payments 34               41               -                  -                  
Auditors' remuneration 
  - Statutory audit

- auditors of the Company 88               90               30               30               
- other auditors (other than

auditors of the Company) -                  8                 -                  -                  
  - Other services

- auditors of the Company -                  15               -                  6                 

Group Company

 
 
Note a: Staff cost 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Salaries and wages 6,085           8,125           -                  -                  
Social security costs 125             124             -                  -                  
Contribution to Employees Provident Fund 784             973             -                  -                  
Other staff related expenses 242             154             -                  -                  

Total staff costs 7,236           9,376           -                  -                  

    Group     Company
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9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 
 

Note b: Other income 
 

Included in other income are the following: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Interest income 
  -  fixed and other deposits 3                 2                 -                  -                  
  -  quoted loan stocks 150             153             -                  -                  
Gain on foreign exchange -                  1                 -                  -                  
Reversal of allowance for
  doubtful debts
  -  trade receivables 125             -                  -                  -                  
  -  amount owing by 

    related parties 46               17               -                  -                  
  -  amount owing by 

    subsidiary companies -                  -                  -                  187             
Overprovision of legal damages 3,999           -                  -                  -                  
Overprovision of consultancy and printing fees 149             55               149             55               

    Group     Company

 
Note c: Other expenses 

 
Included in other expenses are the following: 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Accrual for legal damages -                  301             -                  -                  
Loss on foreign exchange 3                 -                  -                  -                  
Allowance for impairment
  - trade receivables -                  178             -                  -                  
  -  amount owing by 

    related parties -                  46               -                  -                  
  - amount owing by 

subsidiary companies -                  -                  -                  7,099           
Impairment loss in investment 
   in subsidiary companies -                  -                  -                  190             

    Group     Company
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 

    Group     Company

2022 2021 2021 2020
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Estimated tax expense:
- Current financial year 36               37               -                  -                  

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit before tax at the applicable statutory 
income tax rate to income tax expense at the effective income tax rate is as follows: 
 

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

(Loss)/Profit before tax (2,750)         (8,676)         57               (7,194)         

Tax expense at applicable 
   statutory tax rate of 24%
   (2021: 24%) (660)            (2,082)         14               (1,727)         

Tax effects of:
Expenses that are not deductible
   in determining taxable profit 27               70               22               1,788           
Income that are not taxable
   in determining taxable profit (36)              (119)            (36)              (61)              
Deferred tax assets not recognised
   during the financial year 705             2,168           -                  -                  

Income tax 
   expense for the financial year 36               37               -                  -                  
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Office,

factory 

equipment Furniture,

and air- fittings

Plant and conditioning and Motor

Group machinery system fixtures Computers vehicles Renovations Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Cost
At 1 May 2020 20,993         2,041           61               9,861           834             903             34,693         

Additions -                  7                 -                  72               -                  1                 80               

At 30 April 2021/

1 May 2021 20,993         2,048           61               9,933           834             904             34,773         

Additions -                  7                 -                  1                 -                  -                  8                 

Written off (104)            (490)            -                  (4,974)         -                  -                  (5,568)         

At 30 April 2022 20,889         1,565           61               4,960           834             904             29,213         

Accumulated

   Depreciation
At 1 May 2020 20,884         1,828           48               8,572           834             860             33,026         

Charge for the 

 financial year 70               78               5                 285             -                  10               448             

At 30 April 2021/

1 May 2021 20,954         1,906           53               8,857           834             870             33,474         

Charge for the 

 financial year 19               54               4                 195             -                  15               287             

Written off (104)            (490)            -                  (4,974)         -                  -                  (5,568)         

At 30 April 2022 20,869         1,470           57               4,078           834             885             28,193         

Net Book Value
At 30 April 2021 39               142             8                 1,076           -                  34               1,299           

At 30 April 2022 20               95               4                 882             -                  19               1,020           
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

Company Computers

RM'000

Cost
At 1 May 2020/30 April 2021/1 May 2021 18               

Written off (3)                

At 30 April 2022 15               

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 May 2020/30 April 2021/1 May 2021 18               

Written off (3)                

At 30 April 2022 15               

Net Book Value
At 30 April 2021 -                  

At 30 April 2022 -                  

 
12. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET AND LEASE LIABILITY 

 

(a) Right-of-use asset

Network

Group equipment

RM'000

Cost
At 1 May 2020 -                  

Addition 170             

At 30 April 2021/1 May 2021/30 April 2022 170             

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 May 2020 -                  

Charge for the financial year 49               

At 30 April 2021/1 May 2021 49               

Charge for the financial year 86               

At 30 April 2022 135             

Net Book Value
At 30 April 2021 121             

At 30 April 2022 35               

 



  RREEGGIISSTTRRAATTIIOONN  NNOO::  119999440011000044992222  ((229900660011--TT))..   

 

46 

BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
12. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET AND LEASE LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 

 

(b) Lease liability

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

At 1 May 121             -                  

Addition -                  170             

Interest expenses in lease liability (Note 8) 3                 3                 

Lease payments (88)              (52)              

At 30 April 36               121             

Analysed as:

- Current 36               85               

- Non-current -                  36               

36               121             

Group

 
13. PUBLISHING RIGHTS 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Cost
At 1 May/30 April 113,705       113,705       

Accumulated Impairment Loss
At 1 May/30 April (113,705)     (113,705)     

Net Carrying Amount -                  -                  

    Group

Publishing rights acquired in a business combination is allocated to the cash generating unit ("CGU") that 
is expected to benefit from the business combination. 

 
The Group tests the CGU for impairment annually or more frequently if there are indications that CGU 
might be impaired. In the prior financial years, the Group had fully impaired the value of publishing rights. 
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14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
 

Investment in subsidiary companies consists of: 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Unquoted Shares at Cost
At 1 May 268,462       268,272       
Addition during the financial year through capitalisation of amount

owing by subsidiary company -                  190             

At 30 April 268,462       268,462       

Accumulated Impairment Loss
At 1 May 268,462       268,272       
Recognised during the financial year -                  190             

At 30 April 268,462       268,462       

Net Carrying Amount -                  -                  

Company

The details of subsidiary companies, all incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows: 
 

Name of Company 2022 2021
% %

Sun Media Corporation Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Publication, printing and 
   distribution of daily 
   newspaper.

Gemtech (M) Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Investment holding. 

Moves & Shakes Sdn. Bhd.^ 100 100 Provide event management 
   consultancy services.
   Under striking off process.

Nexnews Channel Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Property holding. Ceased
   operations.

Proportion of Ownership 

Interest
Principal Activities

 
 ̂  Consolidated based on management accounts for the financial year ended 30 April 2022. The financial    
g statements of the subsidiary are not required to be audited as it is in the process of striking off.  
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14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Composition of the Group 
 

Information about the composition of the Group at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 
 

Principal Activities

2022 2021

Investment holding 1                 1                 
Publishing 1                 1                 
Others 2                 2                 

4                 4                 

Number of
Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation and
Operation

Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia

In the previous financial year, the Company carried out an impairment test by assessing the recoverable 
amounts of the value of its investments. The assessment gave rise to the recognition of an impairment 
loss of investment in subsidiary companies of RM190,000 as disclosed in Note 9(c) based on recoverable 
amount of RMNil.  

 
 
15. OTHER INVESTMENTS 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Quoted investments in Malaysia:
   Shares 767             -                  -                  -                  
   Loan stocks -                  1,028           -                  -                  

767             1,028           -                  -                  

Group Company

 
On 22 April 2022, 3,066,700 Berjaya Corporation Berhad 5% Irredeemable convertible unsecured loan 
stock April 2012/2022 was converted into 3,066,700 unit of Berjaya Corporation Berhad ordinary shares 
upon maturity.  
 
 

16. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 
 
As mentioned in Note 3, the tax effects of deductible temporary differences, unutilised tax losses and 
unabsorbed capital allowances which would give rise to deferred tax asset are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances can be utilised. The estimated 
amount of unutilised tax losses and unused tax credits of the Group, for which the deferred tax assets 
have not been recognised due to uncertainty of their realisation, are as follows: 
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16. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Unutilised tax losses 284,239       276,549       
Unabsorbed capital allowances 2,647           2,541           
Unabsorbed reinvestment allowances 17,213         17,213         
Temporary difference:
Other payables 3,085           7,821           
Others 97               383             

307,281       304,507       

Group

The Malaysia Finance Act 2018 gazetted on 27 December 2018 has imposed a time limitation to restrict 
the carry forward of the unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed reinvestment allowances. The unutilised 
tax losses and unabsorbed reinvestment allowances accumulated up to the year of assessment 2018 are 
allowed to be carried forward for 7 consecutive years of assessment (i.e. from years of assessment 2019 
to 2025) and any balance of the unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed reinvestment allowances thereafter 
shall be disregarded. 

 
In addition, for any unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed reinvestment allowances that originated from 
the year of assessment 2019 onwards, these are allowed to be carried forward for a maximum period of 
7 consecutive years of assessment immediately following that originating year of assessment and any 
balance of the unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed reinvestment allowances thereafter shall be 
disregarded.  
 
However, the Malaysian Finance Act 2021 gazetted on 31 December 2021 has extended the time 
limitation to carry forward the unutilised tax losses to 10 consecutive years of assessment. Expiry date of 
the Group’s tax losses and reinvestment allowances are summarised as follows: 
 

    Group

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Unutilised tax losses
More than 12 months 284,239       276,549       

Unabsorbed reinvestment allowances
More than 12 months 17,213         17,213         
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17. INVENTORIES 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

At cost:
Raw materials 498             184             
Production materials 76               40               
Stores and consumables 462             458             

1,036           682             

Group

Inventories of RM462,000 (2021: RM458,000) are expected to be recovered after more than 12 months. 
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the financial year of the Group amounted to 
RM1,276,260 (2021: RM1,725,802). 
 
 

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

Trade and other receivables consist of the following: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Restated

Trade receivables (a)
Third parties 831             834             -                  -                  
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (415)            (540)            -                  -                  

Trade receivables, net 416             294             -                  -                  

Other receivables
Refundable deposits 311             331             -                  -                  
Other receivables (b) 43               35               2                 2                 
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (4)                (4)                -                  -                  

39               31               2                 2                 

Amount owing by related parties (c) 520             494             -                  -                  

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (203)            (249)            -                  -                  
317             245             -                  -                  

   
Other receivables, net 667             607             2                 2                 

Other current assets
Prepaid expenses 765             801             -                  -                  

1,848           1,702           2                 2                 

CompanyGroup
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 

 

(a) Trade receivables (Continued) 
 

The credit period granted to customers is 30 days (2021: 30 days). 
 

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. 
 

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposures to a 
single receivable or to group or groups of receivables. 

 
All trade receivables are denominated and receivable in Ringgit Malaysia. 

 
Ageing analysis of trade receivables 

 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Current 221             203             
1 to 30 days 54               55               
31 to 60 days 25               21               
61 to 90 days 101             7                 
91 to 120 days -                  3                 
more than 120 days 15               5                 

195             91               

Impaired 415             540             

831             834             

Group

 
The Group measures allowance for impairment losses of trade receivables based on lifetime 
ECLs. 
 
Impairment for trade receivables are recognised based on the simplified approach. Impairment is 
recognised against trade receivables over their credit period based on estimated amounts 
determined by reference to past default experience of the counterparty and an analysis of the 
counterparty’s current financial position. 
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Trade receivables (Continued) 
 

Movement in allowance for doubtful debts: 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

At 1 May 540             362             
Allowance for doubtful debts -                  178             
Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts (125)            -                  

At 30 April 415             540             

Group

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to 
debtors that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These 
receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements. 

 
(b) Other receivables 

 
Movement in allowance for doubtful debts: 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

At 1 May/30 April 4                 4                 

Group

 
All other receivables are denominated and receivable in Ringgit Malaysia. 

 
Included in other receivables is amount owing by former affiliates for which the balance has been 
fully provided. 

 
(c) Amount owing by related parties 

 
Movement in allowance for doubtful debts: 

 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

At 1 May 249             220             
Allowance for doubtful debts -                  46               
Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts (46)              (17)              

At 30 April 203             249             

Group

Nature of relationship with related parties is disclosed in Note 20. 
 

Amount owing by related parties, which arose from trade transactions, is unsecured and the 
credit period granted is 30 days (2021: 30 days). The net amount owing by related parties at the 
reporting date is neither past due nor impaired. 
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19. AMOUNT OWING BY/(TO) SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Amount owing by subsidiary companies 24,528         24,528         
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (24,528)       (24,528)       

-                  -                  

Company

Movement in allowance for doubtful debts: 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

At 1 May 24,528         17,616         
Allowance for doubtful debts -                  7,099           
Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts -                  (187)            

At 30 April 24,528         24,528         

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Amount owing to subsidiary companies 13,603         13,500         

Company

Company

Amount owing by/(to) subsidiary companies, which arose mainly from expenses paid on behalf and 
advances, is interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.  
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20. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Related parties are entities, excluding related companies, which have common directors and/or 
shareholders with the Company or its subsidiary companies and/or are related to certain directors of the 
Company. 

 
During the financial year, significant transactions undertaken between the Group and the Company with 
related parties, which are negotiated on a basis determined between the said parties, are as follows: 

 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Advertising revenue received/receivable from:
- a deemed substantial shareholder

  and its subsidiary companies (a) 1,436           1,480           
- companies related to a substantial shareholder (b) 513             1,431           

Purchase of goods and services from:
- a subsidiary company of a 

  deemed substantial shareholder (a) 18               19               
- companies related to a substantial shareholder (b) 665             720             

Rental paid/payable to:
- a subsidiary company of a

  deemed substantial shareholder (a) 398             298             
- a company related to a substantial shareholder (b) 16               17               

Management fees payable to 
  a deemed substantial shareholder (a) -                  9                 

Share registration services rendered by a subsidiary 
  company of a deemed substantial shareholder (a) 6                 14               

Group

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Management fees payable to 
  a deemed substantial shareholder (a) -                  9                 

Share registration services rendered by a subsidiary 
  company of a deemed substantial shareholder (a) 6                 14               

Company
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20. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

Nature of Relationship 
 

(a) These include a substantial shareholder, Berjaya Corporation Berhad ("BCorp") and its 
subsidiary companies. Dato' Sri Robin Tan Yeong Ching ("DSRT") is the Non Independent Non 
Executive Deputy Chairman and a substantial shareholder of BCorp. 

 
(b) These companies are deemed related parties by virtue of the interests of Tan Sri Dato' Seri 

Vincent Tan Chee Yioun ("TSVT") in these companies. TSVT is the Non Independent Non 
Executive Chairman of BCorp and a substantial shareholder of both the Company and BCorp 
and is the father of DSRT. 

 
The remunerations of the key management personnel are as follows: 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

(a) Short-term employee benefits -                  830             
(b) Post-employment benefits -                  95               

Group

All other significant related party balances have been disclosed under Notes 18 and 23. 
 
 
21. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

Share capital is represented by: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
'000 '000 RM'000 RM'000

Issued and Fully Paid:
Ordinary Shares
At 1 May/30 April 235,085       235,085       191,538       191,538       

Group and Company
Number of shares Share capital

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All the ordinary shares rank equally with 
regard to the Company’s residual assets. 
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22. RESERVES 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

FVTOCI reserve (1,648)         (1,387)         -                  -                  
Accumulated losses (217,697)     (214,911)     (208,888)     (208,945)     

(219,345)     (216,298)     (208,888)     (208,945)     

CompanyGroup

 
 

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Restated

Non-current liability

Accrued expenses and deposits 125             182             -                  -                  

Current liabilities

Trade payables 505             999             -                  -                  
Other payables 3,131           2,770           1                 132             
Accrued expenses and deposits 1,322           2,515           39               69               
Accrual for legal damages 2,099           6,129           -                  -                  
Amount owing to a major shareholder 26,913         19,213         3,721           3,721           

33,970         31,626         3,761           3,922           

Total trade and other payables 34,095         31,808         3,761           3,922           

Group Company

The credit period granted to the Group for trade purchases ranges from 90 to 120 days (2021: 90 to 120 
days). 

 
Included in the trade payables is an amount of RM165,000 (2021: RM75,000) owing to a related party. 

 
Included in the other payables of the Group and of the Company are amounts of RM2,056,000 (2021: 
RM1,391,000) and RM1,000 (2021: RM3,000) owing to related parties. 

 
Accrued expenses and deposits of the Group also include an outstanding arising from the purchase of 
software, which will be repayable over 60 monthly instalments. The remaining balance consists of 20 
(2021: 31) instalments. 

 
Accrual for legal damages is recognised for the lawsuits that were judged in favour of the plaintiffs as 
disclosed in Note 25. 

 
Amount owing to a major shareholder is interest-free and is repayable on demand. 

 
All trade and other payables are denominated and payable in Ringgit Malaysia. 
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24. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Fixed deposits with licensed banks 437             246             -                  -                  
Cash on hand and at banks 1,326           2,196           12               13               

1,763           2,442           12               13               

Group Company

The interest rate of fixed deposits with licensed banks earn interest rates ranging from 1.50% to 1.90% 
(2021: 1.50% to 2.40%) per annum and have an average maturity ranging from 28 days to 31 days 
(2021: 26 days to 31 days). 
 

 
25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND MATERIAL LITIGATIONS 
 

Asia Pacific Higher Learning Sdn. Bhd. ("APHLSB") and Wan Mazlan Bin Mohamed Woojdy ("WMBMW") 
filed a Statement of Claim against Sun Media Corporation Sdn. Bhd. (“SunMedia”) on 14 November 2013 
and 15 November 2013 respectively for defamation by reason of articles published in theSun and its 
webpage. The cases were subsequently withdrawn by APHLSB and WMBMW on 30 December 2014 
with liberty to file afresh. On 25 March 2015, APHLSB and WMBMW filed a fresh Statement of Claim 
against SunMedia and its journalists alleging that it was defamed by reason of certain articles published 
in theSun. APHLSB and WMBMW sought an unconditional written apology, an injunction restraining 
SunMedia, and/or its agents from giving comments, repeating and/or causing the publication or words 
and/or any statement that is defamatory in nature against APHLSB and WMBMW. APHLSB and 
WMBMW were claiming damages of RM550 million and RM5 million respectively, together with interest 
and cost. SunMedia filed in their Statement of Defence on 20 April 2015. The Court fixed the matter for 
decision on 10 October 2018 and subsequently adjourned to 12 December 2018. On 31 January 2019, 
the High Court had delivered its judgment in favour of APHLSB and WMBMW. The High Court has 
ordered SunMedia to publish an unconditional written apology to APHLSB and WMBMW. The High Court 
has also awarded a total of RM4.6 million in damages, RM100,000 in costs and an interest of 5% per 
annum from the date of filing the suit up to full payment of the damages. The total amount awarded by 
the High Court for the suits was RM6.1 million. 

 
The solicitors for SunMedia had filed an appeal against the decisions of the High Court and a stay of 
execution. For the appeal against the decision of the High Court, the solicitors had filed the Records of 
Appeal for APHLSB and WMBMW, on 26 April 2019 and 29 April 2019, respectively. The solicitors had 
informed the Court of Appeal of the filing of Records of Appeal on 14 May 2019.The Court of Appeal had, 
after various case managements and postponements, fixed the date of hearing of the appeal to be on 26 
January 2022. The hearing for the stay of execution had also been fixed to be on 26 January 2022. 

 
Based on the Court of Appeal's decision on 29 June 2022, the Award by the High Court of RM4.6 million 
in damages has been reduced to RM1.45 million. Nevertheless, on 5 August 2022, the Company has 
filed an application for leave to appeal to the Federal Court to have this decision overturned or Award 
amount to be further reduced. Following this, a hearing has been fixed on 5 December 2022 by the 
Federal Court.  
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
26.1 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
 

The operations of the Group are subject to a variety of financial risks, including interest rate risk, credit 
risk, liquidity risk, cash flow risk and equity risk. The Group has taken measures to minimise its exposure 
to risks and/or costs associated with the financing, investing and operating activities of the Group.  

 
The following sections provide details regarding the Group's and Company's exposure to the above-
mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. 

 
(a) Interest Rate Risk 

 
The Group's and the Company's primary interest rate risks relate to interest bearing assets. 

 
The Group's and the Company's interest bearing assets are mainly fixed deposits with licensed 
banks and financial institutions. The Group and the Company manage the interest rate risk of its 
deposits with licensed banks by placing them at the most competitive interest rates obtainable, 
which yield better returns than cash at bank. The interest bearing assets are not held for 
speculative purposes. 

 
The carrying amounts, the range of applicable interest rates during the year and the remaining 
maturities of the Group's and the Company's financial instruments that are exposed to interest 
rate risk are disclosed in Note 24. 
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26.    FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
26.1 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued) 
 

(b) Credit Risk 
 

The Group is exposed to credit risk mainly from trade receivables. Trade receivables are 
monitored closely on an on-going basis through management reporting procedures. 

 
The Group extends credit to its customers based upon careful evaluation of the customers' 
financial condition and credit history.  

 
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large 
number of counterparties and customers. 

 
The Group's credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited as the Group places its fund with 
reputable financial institutions with high credit ratings. 

 
As at the reporting date, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk are mainly trade 
receivables balances as reported in statements of financial position. 

 
(c) Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting 
financial obligations. The Group's and the Company's objective is to maintain a balance between 
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.  

 
The Group’s and the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RM29,504,000 
and RM17,350,000 respectively as a result of losses incurred during the current and prior 
financial years. The current liabilities of the Group and of the Company as at 30 April 2022 arose 
mainly from trade and other payables of RM33,970,000 and RM3,761,000 respectively. 

 
However, the financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
This going concern basis is applied on the assumptions that the Group will receive financial 
support from a major shareholder to meet its obligations as and when they fall due. In this regard, 
the Group has received a letter from a major shareholder confirming that financial support will be 
provided to enable the Group to meet its obligations as and when they fall due for the next 12 
months from end of the financial year. 

 
The Group actively manages its operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as to 
ensure that all funding needs are met. As part of its overall prudent liquidity management, the 
Group maintains the availability of funding through adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities. 
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
26.1 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued) 
 

(c) Liquidity Risk (Continued) 
 

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 
 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's and the Company's liabilities at 
the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. 

 

On demand
or within 1 to 5 

1 year years Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Group
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 33,970         125             34,095         
Lease liability 37               -                  37               

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 34,007         125             34,132         

Company
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 3,761           -                  3,761           
Amount owing to subsidiary companies 13,603         -                  13,603         

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 17,364         -                  17,364         

2021

Group
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 31,626         182             31,808         
Lease liability 88               37               125             

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 31,714         219             31,933         

Company
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 3,922           -                  3,922           
Amount owing to subsidiary companies 13,500         -                  13,500         

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 17,422         -                  17,422         
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
26.1 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued) 
 

(d) Cash Flows Risk 
 

The Group reviews its cash flow position regularly to manage its exposure to fluctuations in future 
cash flows associated with its monetary financial instruments. 

 
(e) Equity Risk 

 
The Group and the Company are exposed to equity price risk arising from its investment in 
quoted equity instruments. The quoted equity investments are listed on the Bursa Malaysia and 
classified as FVTOCI financial assets based on the purpose for which the quoted equity 
investments were acquired. 

 
Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk 

 
As at the reporting date, if the price of the Group's quoted equity investments in Bursa Malaysia 
had been 10% higher or lower, with all other variables held constant, the Group's and the 
Company's equity would have been RM77,000 (2021: RM103,000) higher and lower respectively, 
arising as a result of an increase and decrease in the fair value of equity instruments classified as 
FVTOCI. 

 
26.2 (a) Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for 
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis for recognition of income and expenses), for 
each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 3. 
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
26.2 (b) Classification of financial instruments 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial assets
Amortised cost:
Trade and 
   other receivables 18 1,083           901             2                 2                 
Cash and  
   bank balances 24 1,763           2,442           12               13               

2,846           3,343           14               15               

FVTOCI
Other investments 15 767             1,028           -                  -                  

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost:
Trade and 
   other payables 23 34,095         31,808         3,761           3,922           
Amount owing to 

subsidiary companies 19 -                  -                  13,603         13,500         

34,095         31,808         17,364         17,422         

CompanyGroup
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
26.3 Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
 

(a) Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
 

As at the reporting date, the Group and the Company held the following financial instruments 
carried at fair values in the statements of financial position: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Fair Value Hierarchy - Level 1
FVTOCI financial assets:
Quoted investments 767             1,028           -                  -                  

Group Company

The fair values of the financial assets are based on quoted price listed in the Main Market of 
Bursa Malaysia. 

 
(b) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a 

recurring basis  
 

Financial instruments that are recognised at amortised cost and whose carrying amounts are 
reasonable approximation of fair value are as follows: 

Note
Trade and other receivables 18 *
Trade and other payables 23 *
Cash and bank balances 24 *
Amount owing by subsidiary companies 19 #
Amount owing to subsidiary companies 19 #

 
Notes: 

 
* The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable 

approximation of fair values as they are either within the normal credit terms or they 
have short maturity period.  

 
# The carrying amount of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable 

approximation of fair values as they are repayable on demand. 
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27. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maintain an optimal capital structure in 
order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure 
and make adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic condition. To maintain or adjust its capital 
structure, the Group may return capital to shareholder or issue new shares.  
 
As disclosed in Note 2, during the financial year ended 30 April 2022, the Group incurred a net loss of 
RM2,786,000. As at 30 April 2022, the Group and the Company reported shareholders’ deficit of 
RM27,807,000 and RM17,350,000 respectively, and the Group’s and the Company’s current liabilities 
exceeded its current assets by RM29,504,000 and RM17,350,000 respectively as a result of losses 
incurred during the current and prior financial years. The current liabilities of the Group and of the 
Company as at 30 April 2022 arose mainly from trade and other payables of RM33,970,000 and 
RM3,761,000 respectively. 
 
Notwithstanding these events and conditions, the financial statements have been prepared on the basis 
of a going concern, which presumes the Group will receive financial support from a major shareholder to 
meet its obligations as and when they fall due. In this regard, the Group has received a letter from a 
major shareholder confirming that financial support will be provided to enable the Group to meet its 
obligations as and when they fall due for the next 12 months from end of the financial year. 
 
 

28. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
 
Certain comparative figures have been restated to comply with current year’s presentation as follows: 

As As previosly 
restated stated
RM'000 RM'000

Statement of financial position

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 1,702            1,699            

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 31,626          31,623          

 
The comparative figures for the financial year ended 30 April 2021 which are presented for comparative 
purposes were examined and reported on by another firm of auditors. 



https://sshsb.net.my/
https://www.berjaya.com/berjaya-media






iii) Shareholders/proxy(ies)/corporate representatives from the public WILL NOT BE ALLOWED TO 
BE PHSICALLY PRESENT at the Broadcast Venue on the day of the AGM of the Company. 

 
iv) A member of the Company who is entitled to attend, participate, speak (including posing questions to 

the Board via real time submission of typed texts) and vote remotely at the AGM of the Company via 
RPV Facilities is entitled to appoint another person as his/her proxy to exercise all or any of his/her 
rights to attend, participate, speak and vote in his/her stead. A proxy may but need not be a member. 

 
v) A member, other than an authorised nominee or an exempt authorised nominee may appoint not 

more than two (2) proxies. 
 

vi) An authorised nominee, as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991 
(“SICDA”), may appoint at least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account. 

 
vii) An exempt authorised nominee, as defined under the SICDA, and holding ordinary shares in the 

Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (‘omnibus account’), may appoint 
multiple proxies in respect of each of its omnibus account. 

 
viii) Where more than one (1) proxy is appointed, the number of shares represented by each proxy must 

be clearly indicated in the Form of Proxy. 
 

ix) An individual member who appoints a proxy must sign the Form of Proxy personally or by his 
attorney duly authorised in writing. A corporate member who appoints a proxy must execute the 
Form of Proxy under seal or under the hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised. 

 
x) The duly  executed  Form of Proxy  must be deposited  at the  Company’s  Registered Office at  

Lot 13-01A, Level 13 (East Wing), Berjaya Times Square, No. 1 Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur 
not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM of the Company. 

 
xi) Only members whose names appear in the Register of Members and/or Record of Depositors as at 

19 October 2022 shall be entitled to participate and/or vote at the AGM of the Company via RPV 
Facilities. 



FORM OF PROXY 
BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 
Registration No. 199401004922 (290601-T) 

 
I/We   

(Name in full) 
 

I.C. or Company No.  CDS Account No.    
(New and Old I.C. Nos. or Company No.) 

 
of    

(Address) 

being a member/members of BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD hereby appoint: 
 

1)  I.C.No.    
(Name in full) (New and Old I.C. Nos.) 

of   
(Address) 

 
2)  I.C.No.    

(Name in full) (New and Old I.C. Nos.) 

of   
(Address) 

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf, at the Twenty-Eighth Annual 
General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be conducted on a virtual basis through live streaming from the broadcast venue at 
Manhattan VII, Level 14, Berjaya Times Square Hotel Kuala Lumpur, No. 1 Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur (“Broadcast Venue”) on 
Thursday, 27 October 2022 at 10.00 a.m. or any adjournment thereof. 

This proxy is to vote on the Resolutions set out in the Notice of the AGM as indicated with an "X" in the appropriate spaces. If no 
specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. 

 

 FOR AGAINST 

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1 - To approve payment of Director's Fee.   

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2 - To approve payment of Directors’ Remuneration (excluding 
Directors’ fees) for the period from 28 October 2022 until the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company). 

  

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3 - To re-elect Dato' Sri Robin Tan Yeong Ching as Director.   

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 4 - To re-appoint auditors. 
  

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 5 - To approve authority to issue and allot shares.   

Dated this  day of  , 2022 

 
 
 
 

Signature(s)/Common Seal of Member(s) 
 
 

NOTES: 
i) As part of the safety measures to stem the spread of Covid-19 and with the 

safety of the Company’s shareholders, employees and Directors being of 
primary concern, the AGM of the Company will be conducted on a virtual 
basis through live streaming and online remote voting via the Remote 
Participation and Voting Facilities (“RPV Facilities”) provided by SS E 
Solutions Sdn Bhd (“SS E Solutions”) via Securities Services e-Portal’s 
platform at https://sshsb.net.my/. Please follow the procedures provided in the 
Administrative Details for the AGM of the Company in order to register, 
participate and vote remotely via the RPV Facilities. 

ii) The main and only venue of the AGM is the Broadcast Venue. Pursuant to 
Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 2016, the Chairman of the meeting is 
required to be present at the main venue of the AGM of the Company. 

iii) Shareholders/proxy(ies)/corporate representatives from the public WILL NOT 
BE ALLOWED TO BE PHSICALLY PRESENT at the Broadcast Venue on 
the day of the AGM of the Company. 

iv) A member of the Company who is entitled to attend, participate, speak 
(including posing questions to the Board via real time submission of typed 
texts) and vote remotely at the AGM of the Company via RPV Facilities is 
entitled to appoint another person as his/her proxy to exercise all or any of his/ 
her rights to attend, participate, speak and vote in his/her stead. A proxy may 
but need not be a member. 

v) A member, other than an authorised nominee or an exempt authorised nominee 
may appoint not more than two (2) proxies. 

vi) An authorised nominee, as defined under the Securities Industry (Central 
Depositories) Act 1991 (“SICDA”), may appoint at least one (1) proxy in 
respect of each securities account. 

 

vii) An exempt authorised nominee, as defined under the SICDA, and holding 
ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one 
securities account (‘omnibus account’), may appoint multiple proxies in 
respect of each of its omnibus account. 

viii) Where more than one (1) proxy is appointed, the number of shares represented 
by each proxy must be clearly indicated in the Form of Proxy. 

ix) An individual member who appoints a proxy must sign the Form of Proxy 
personally or by his attorney duly authorised in writing. A corporate member 
who appoints a proxy must execute the Form of Proxy under seal or under the 
hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised. 

x) The duly executed Form of Proxy must be deposited at the Company’s 
Registered Office at Lot 13-01A, Level 13 (East Wing), Berjaya Times Square, 
No. 1 Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours 
before the time appointed for holding the AGM of the Company. 

xi) Only members whose names appear in the Register of Members and/or Record 
of Depositors as at 19 October 2022 shall be entitled to participate and/or vote 
at the AGM of the Company via RPV Facilities. 

No. of shares held 

For appointment of two proxies, percentage of 
shareholdings to be represented by the proxies: 

 No. of shares Percentage 
Proxy 1   

Proxy 2   

Total  100% 
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ADMINISTRATIVE DETAILS 
FOR THE TWENTY-EIGHTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“28th AGM” or “The 
Meeting”) OF BERJAYA MEDIA BERHAD 

As part of the safety measures to stem the spread of Covid-19 and with the safety of the Company’s 
shareholders, employees and Directors being of primary concern, Berjaya Media Berhad (“BMedia” or 
“the Company”) will conduct its 28th AGM on a virtual basis by way of live streaming and online remote 
voting via the Remote Participation and Voting (“RPV”) facilities on Securities Services e-Portal, details 
as set out below:- 

 
Date  : Thursday, 27 October 2022 

Time  : 10.00 a.m. 

Broadcast Venue : Manhattan VII, Level 14, Berjaya Times Square Hotel Kuala 
Lumpur, No. 1 Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur 

Meeting Platform : Securities Services e-Portal https://sshsb.net.my/ 

1. Virtual Meeting   

The main and only venue of the 28th AGM is the Broadcast Venue. Pursuant to Section 327(2) of 
the Companies Act 2016 and the Company’s Constitution, the Chairman of the Meeting is 
required to be present at the main venue of the 28th AGM. Shareholders/proxies/corporate 
representatives should not be physically present at the Broadcast Venue on the day of the 28th 
AGM and will be requested to leave the Broadcast Venue. 

2. Remote Participation and Voting 

Please note that all shareholders including (i) individual shareholders, (ii) corporate shareholders; 
(iii) authorised nominees; (iv) exempt authorised nominees and proxies who wish to participate at 
the 28th AGM shall use the RPV facilities to participate and/or vote remotely at the 28th AGM. 
Please refer to the Securities Services e-Portal User Guide as set out in Appendix A for further 
details. 

 
Kindly ensure that you are connected to the internet at all times in order to participate and/or vote 
at the Meeting. Therefore, it is your responsibility to ensure that your connectivity for the duration 
of the Meeting is maintained. Kindly note that the quality of the live webcast is dependent on the 
bandwidth and stability of your internet connection. 

 
The Company, the Board of Directors and its management, share registrar and other 
professionals (if any) shall not be held responsible or be liable for any disruption in the internet 
connection resulting in you being unable to participate and/or vote at the Meeting. 

3. Appointment of Proxy  

 If you are unable to attend and participate at the 28th AGM, you may appoint not more than two 
(2) proxies or the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy and indicate your voting instructions in 
the Form of Proxy in accordance with the notes and instructions printed therein. 

 Please ensure that your hard copy of the original Form of Proxy is deposited at the Company’s 
Registered Office not less than forty eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the 
28th AGM i.e. by Tuesday, 25 October 2022 at 10.00 a.m.. 

 If your appointed proxy(ies) is not an existing user of Securities Services e-Portal, he/she is 
required to register as a user (in accordance with the procedures as set out in the attached 
Appendix A) by Thursday, 20 October 2022 at 10.00 a.m.. All appointed proxies need not 
register for remote participation on Securities Services e-Portal. Upon processing of your Form of 
Proxy, we will grant your proxy access to remote participation at the Meeting to which he/she is 
appointed for instead of you, provided that your proxy registers as a user of Securities 
Services e-Portal by Thursday, 20 October 2022 at 10.00 a.m., failing which, your proxy will 
not be able to participate at the Meeting. PLEASE NOTIFY YOUR PROXY(IES) 
ACCORDINGLY. 
 
If you wish to personally participate in the Meeting, please do not submit any Form of Proxy for 
the Meeting. You will not be allowed to participate at the Meeting together with the proxy(ies) 
appointed by you. 
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